1992

# Joseph Mitchell Parsons v. M. Eldon Barnes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### INTRODUCTION


Included in this Addendum are the fundamental documents reflecting the decision of the Third District Court. Also included are reproductions of the relevant Jury Instructions, Special Verdict Form, and statutes, rules, and constitutional provisions. All references to statutes are to Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended.

All of the statutes reproduced are the versions in effect during the time period of August, 1987 through January, 1988. Some portions of the relevant statutes and constitutional provisions have been omitted for the convenience of the court as irrelevant to the issues presented.

All of the printed material included in this Addendum has been reproduced from the Utah Code Ann. published by the Michie Company.

DATED this 17<sup>th</sup> day of September, 1992.

KIPP & CHRISTIAN, P.C.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
GREGORY J. SANDERS, ESQ.

KIRK G. GIBBS, ESQ.

RONALD J. YENGICH, ESQ.

YENGICH, RICH & XAIZ

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant

***ADDENDUM "A"***

**Memorandum Decision of Third District Court**

**FILED DISTRICT COURT**  
**Third Judicial District**

**DEC 09 1991**

SALT LAKE COUNTY  
By *[Signature]*  
Deputy Clerk

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT  
IN AND FOR SALT LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH

-----

JOSEPH MITCHELL PARSONS,	:	MEMORANDUM DECISION
Plaintiff,	:	CASE NO. 900901405
vs.	:	
N. ELDON BARNES,	:	
Defendant.	:	

-----

The above-entitled matter came on for trial on the 24th of May, 1991. At the conclusion of the evidence and at the request of counsel, the matter was set for final closing argument August 13, 1991.

At trial, the plaintiff/petitioner was present and represented by his attorneys Gregory J. Sanders, and Ronald J. Yengich, Director of the Rocky Mountain Defense Fund as associated counsel. The State was represented by its counsel, Ms. Charlene Barlow and Kirk M. Torgensen. The parties having submitted their respective pleadings and the Court now being fully advised, makes this its:

00249

## MEMORANDUM DECISION

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL FACTS

1. On March 8, 1990, the plaintiff, pro se, filed a Complaint for habeas corpus relief.

2. The Court set a pre-hearing conference for March 16, 1990, on which day the State filed its Answer.

3. The Court then discussed with the petitioner, appearing pro se the appointment of counsel and the future scheduling of proceedings, and stayed the execution date then set for April 30, 1990.

4. The Court appointed Messrs. Sanders and Yengich on May 2, 1990, and requested that they review the case and consider filing an Amended Petition. An Amended Petition was filed on the 22nd of October, 1990. (NOTE: The Court wishes to note here an expression of appreciation to each counsel for the petitioner, whose appearance and participation was pro bono. This effort by counsel represents the finest evidence of charitable legal work well beyond that which might be expected.)

5. This case was reviewed by the Utah State Supreme Court on direct appeal in the case of State v. Joseph Mitchell

00250



Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275, decided October 13, 1989. Thereafter a rehearing was denied on January 22, 1990. Before the Supreme Court in the appeal, the petitioner was represented by his defense attorney who assisted him in the trial and appeal of the original case.

Petitioner has exhausted his appellate remedies and now seeks relief through this Petition for Habeas Corpus.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELATED TO THE OFFENSE

6. Upon a plea of guilty, the defendant was convicted of Murder in the First Degree, a Capital Offense, in violation of Section 76-5-202 (1978, Supp. 1989). The Court thereafter conducted a sentencing proceeding in harmony with Section 76-3-207 (1978, Supp. 1989), and the jury unanimously concluded the death penalty was appropriate and such was ordered by the trial judge.

7. The criminal offense occurred in late afternoon on August 30, 1987. The defendant had been hitchhiking on Interstate 15 near Barstow, California. The victim, Richard L. Ernest, offered a ride to Mr. Parsons. Mr. Ernest agreed to take the petitioner to Denver, Colorado.

00251

8. At approximately 3:00 a.m. on August 31, 1987, the petitioner and Mr. Ernest drove into the Lunt Park rest area on Interstate 15 near Cedar City. Mr. Ernest stated he was too tired to continue driving, and stopped for some sleep. The petitioner claims that Mr. Ernest made a homosexual advance, to which the petitioner responded, "That's not my style," and requested to be left alone. Again, according to the petitioner, when Mr. Ernest made a second advance, the petitioner pulled from his sock a five inch double-edged knife and stabbed Mr. Ernest in the chest, rendering multiple blows which were fatal.

9. The petitioner then drove Mr. Ernest's vehicle away from the rest stop, pulled over on the shoulder of the highway, and pushed Mr. Ernest's body out of the car covering it with a sleeping bag.

10. The petitioner then drove to Beaver, Utah, where he changed his clothes, washed the victim's blood from himself and from the inside of the vehicle, and emptied personal belongings and carpentry tools of the victim into a dumpster. He thereafter assumed the victim's identity, purchasing food, gas, etc. with Mr. Ernest's credit cards.

00252

11. Law enforcement officers, thereafter, having been alerted to the credit card transactions and the unusual activities at the service station in Beaver, and later having found the victim's body, were able at approximately 4:15 p.m. on August 31, to apprehend the petitioner at a rest area on Interstate 70.

12. Thereafter, as stated earlier, the defendant pled guilty to Capital Homicide. The penalty portion of the proceedings ensued wherein the death penalty was ordered. The conviction and sentence were appealed and affirmed.

13. This post-conviction petition was filed, raising the following issues:

ISSUES HEREIN CONSIDERED

14. The petitioner alleges that his sentence is unconstitutional and in violation of the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Articles I and VII of the Utah Constitution. He specifically claims that the assistance of his trial and appellate counsel was ineffective, justifying relief for the following alleged deficiencies:

00253

A. There was insufficient investigation of the offense and particularly the penalty evidence to mitigate the petitioner's conduct.

B. Counsel erred in allowing his client to plead guilty to Capital Homicide rather than directly trying the case.

C. Counsel erred in failing to prepare expert psychological witnesses for the defense in sentencing.

D. Counsel erred in failing to exclude a juror who communicated with a witness in the courthouse during a recess of the proceedings.

E. Counsel erred in failing to request of the court to determine if certain jurors had an improper predisposition or bias in regard to the death penalty.

F. Prosecution erred in obtaining significant sworn statements or "depositions" of witnesses without notice to opposing counsel and in violation of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure.

G. Counsel erred in failing to file adequate discovery motions.

H. Counsel erred in failing to advise the petitioner regarding his rights at preliminary hearing.

00254

I. Counsel erred in failing to meet with the petitioner for a sufficient length of time to adequately prepare.

J. Counsel erred in failing to adequately investigate or request the Court inquire of the venire's awareness of media reporting of the incidents.

K. Counsel erred in failing to submit an appropriate special verdict form.

L. Counsel erred in failing to challenge the prosecutor for failure to have filed an appropriate bond as required by law.

M. Prosecution erred in failing to provide petitioner with compensated counsel in pursuing his rights to post-conviction relief.

15. Based upon the foregoing claims, the State filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and claimed in its Memoranda, among other things, that the issues for post-conviction relief as stated above could not be considered because they could or should have been raised on appeal consistent with Utah case law.

The Court will now address each of the respective claims.

00255

PETITIONER'S CLAIMS COULD OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN  
RAISED ON APPEAL

16. The Utah Supreme Court in Hurst v. Cook, 777 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1989), stated that post-conviction relief should be sought only in "unusual circumstances" and the majority of issues that could or should have been raised on appeal should not be re-examined in post-conviction hearings. See also, Brown v. Turner, 21 Utah 2d 96, 44 P.2d 968 (1968).

17. While it would be easy to review the above-stated issues as to whether they were available for consideration by the Court at the time of appeal and then reject them in that they could or should have been raised at that time; unfortunately, when the focus of the petitioner's claim is stated herein, is on the effectiveness of counsel, and since that same counsel handled both the trial and appeal, it seems appropriate and equitable that this Court consider those arguments on their merits. Therefore, this Court rejects the claim that the issues could or should have been raised on appeal, and reviews the issues, as follows:

00256

**A. SUFFICIENCY OF THE INVESTIGATION PRIOR TO TRIAL**

18. The petitioner claims that his attorney failed to adequately investigate the underlying offense through the use of an authorized investigator and/or to seek adequate evidence of mitigation for the penalty phase.

19. Counsel for the defendant testified that he spent several hundred hours working on the case. After a review of the file and listening to the testimony of the witnesses, the Court cannot find any basis upon which the Court could conclude that a further investigation would have yielded other information that would have affected the result.

20. The petitioner has further failed to proffer any information, including information regarding the alleged homosexual encounter or invitation which could cause the Court to conclude that the result would be affected in the least.

21. The Court will not and cannot conclude that further investigation would have provided something now not even proffered or alleged. To so conclude would cause courts to set minimum time allocations for cases to be investigated. That would not be an acceptable standard.


00257

B. COUNSEL ERRED IN ALLOWING HIS CLIENT TO PLEAD  
GUILTY TO CAPITAL HOMICIDE

22. The petitioner has continually admitted that he was responsible for killing the victim in this case. The petitioner himself became frustrated during the course of the preliminary hearing. He apparently didn't want to hear the evidence, and he requested strongly of his counsel that the preliminary hearing terminate. Petitioner was advised that that could not occur without the consent of the prosecution, and that the prosecution would not consent without a clear, unequivocal plea to Capital Homicide. The petitioner considered fully that decision, and determined to enter the plea.

23. Not only does an accused individual have the right to plead "not guilty," they also have the right to plead "guilty." That was done in this case. As a part of the legitimate trial strategy, the petitioner determined that it would not be to his advantage to have the same jury consider both the evidence related to guilt or innocence, and deliberate thereon, and thereafter consider the evidence related to punishment with a view then toward aggravating and mitigating circumstances and deliberate thereon. That strategy is a very

00258





legitimate strategy which the petitioner elected to make knowingly. This Court finds no flaw therein.

**C. COUNSEL ERRED IN FAILURE TO PREPARE PSYCHOLOGICAL WITNESSES FOR THE DEFENSE**

24. No testimony was proffered as to the benefits of such psychological witnesses, and this Court cannot speculate on the result of that failure. This is particularly so when the standard required in Strickland is that there must be a probability that the result would be in doubt if the error had not occurred. I cannot find any basis to so conclude or speculate and decline to do so.

**D. COUNSEL ERRED IN FAILURE TO EXCLUDE A JUROR WHO COMMUNICATED WITH A WITNESS DURING A RECESS**

25. The Court finds that the conversation between the juror and the witness, while unfortunate, was casual and the parties were specifically asked whether they continued to raise their objection or challenge to that juror. The petitioner and his counsel declined to do so. The State in what was described as "an abundance of caution" asked that the juror be replaced with an alternate, which then the defendant refused. The State certainly could not be held to having a defect in its

conviction and sentence based upon such acquiescence by the defendant.

E. CLAIMED JUROR RELIGIOUS PREDISPOSITION IN  
FAVOR OF THE DEATH PENALTY

26. This claim was abandoned by the petitioner and counsel, and need not be further considered.

F. THE "DEPOSITIONS" TAKEN WITHOUT NOTICE TO  
OPPOSING COUNSEL

27. On September 2, the day the Information was filed, and only two days after the arrest of the petitioner, a sworn statement was taken of the victim's wife, Ms. Beverly Ernest. The statement was taken without notice to opposing counsel and likely at a time when no counsel had, in fact, been named. Later, on September 4, further sworn statements were taken of prisoners in the Iron County Jail who had been cellmates with the petitioner.

28. While the statements were called "depositions" when they were taken, the prosecutor Mr. Scott Burns testified that he did not consider the statements to be formal "depositions" and that he had no intention of using the statements in trial. This Court finds that these "depositions" were nothing more than investigative sworn statements, and in fact worked to the

benefit of the petitioner during the course of the penalty phase of the trial. It was only the petitioner's counsel who used the sworn statements in examining witnesses.

29. The statements were from the beginning readily available to defense counsel, and were only generated in order to preserve investigative information.

30. This Court can find no evidence that the taking of the sworn statements in any way affected the testimony of the witnesses. There is no evidence that I can see from a review of the record that examination as to the victim's alleged ownership of the gun, his general relationship with his wife, and his having left California with cash failed to create in my mind any issues that could have been preserved, enhanced or utilized to benefit the petitioner or the State in any other way than came forth at trial. Had the witness been more closely cross-examined by vigorous defense counsel there would have been no change. Thus, I cannot find any factual basis to conclude that there was any prejudice as a result of the taking of the statement without notice to opposing counsel and the petitioner. I find that the statements were not "depositions", but were rather "sworn statements" generated by a careful and thoughtful investigative prosecutor.



**G. COUNSEL FAILED TO FILE ADEQUATE DISCOVERY MOTIONS**

31. The Court finds this issue to be without merit, there is no reason to file a discovery motion, other than out of an abundance of caution when the motion would, as in this case, yield nothing. The prosecutor had a continual open file policy and would often present the defense attorney with information simultaneous to receipt of the same by the prosecutor. On many occasions each would review new information at the same time. No information has been presented by the petitioner to show that the discovery motions would have yielded anything. To find merit in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on that basis would cause the Court to speculate well beyond appropriate circumstances.

**H. COUNSEL FAILED TO ADVISE THE PETITIONER  
REGARDING HIS RIGHTS FOR WAIVER OF PRELIMINARY HEARING**

32. The record reveals that the petitioner was adequately advised of the consequences of waiving the preliminary hearing. It was at the petitioner's insistence that the hearing be discontinued and that he be allowed to plead guilty to the killing. The petitioner in this court made a full

00262

admission to the killing, and has apparently never denied it. The waiver of the preliminary hearing on that basis cannot be found deficient. The only issues at a preliminary hearing are whether (1) there is probable cause to believe an offense has been committed, and whether (2) there is probable cause to believe the individual accused committed the offense. Both of those issues were openly, willingly, and knowingly admitted throughout the proceedings.

**I. COUNSEL FAILED TO MEET WITH THE PETITIONER FOR A  
SUFFICIENT LENGTH OF TIME TO ADEQUATELY PREPARE**

33. Without a predicate showing that further meetings would have yielded information that could cause the Court to doubt the quality of the representation and/or the conviction, courts should not engage in speculation as to the amount of time necessary for counsel and their clients to meet. This would require speculation beyond the purview of this Court, and beyond that which is appropriate in this case.

**J. COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE THE  
VENIRE'S AWARENESS OF THE MEDIA REPORTING OF THE INCIDENT**

34. This offense happened in a relatively unpopulated part of Utah, where it is natural to expect that many people would

00263

have heard of the events. There is, however, no evidence to show that further inquiry into the media reporting of the events and the venire's knowledge of the same would affect the result, thus this issue fails for want of sufficient evidence in support.

**K. THE FAILURE TO COUNSEL TO SUBMIT AN APPROPRIATE  
SPECIAL VERDICT FORM**

35. The Special Verdict form utilized by the court has been reviewed on appeal by the State Supreme Court and the argument has been rejected. I find no basis upon which to infer that counsel was ineffective through allowing without further objection the same.

**L. COUNSEL FAILED TO CHALLENGE THE PROSECUTOR  
FOR FAILURE TO HAVING FILED THE REQUIRED BOND**

36. There is no basis upon which the Court should grant relief for this issue. The bonding of a county prosecutor is principally to provide indemnity of the prosecutor to the public in the event of some type of malfeasance or inappropriate performance in office. Since there is no right to relief in this case on that basis, the Court finds the petitioner fails for lack of standing to raise the issue.

**M. THE PETITIONER HAS BEEN PREJUDICED IN PURSUING  
HIS POST-CONVICTION RELIEF DUE TO THE FAILURE TO  
PROVIDE COSTS AND FEES**

37. Unfortunately, this issue remains a legislative determination. The petitioner's representation herein was superb. This Court has grave concerns that petitioners in prison seeking post-conviction relief may not have adequate access to counsel to raise issues that appropriately should be carefully reviewed by a court. Unfortunately, that assistance is not provided at taxpayer's expense, and thus lawyers are often constrained to accept the request of a judge to perform pro bono services as was done here in significant post-conviction cases. This is an unfortunate present circumstance, but not a matter for judicial resolution.

Based upon the foregoing review and analysis of the issues submitted by the petitioner in his Petition seeking a Writ of Habeas Corpus, the Court finds that the same is and should be denied.

Ms. Barlow and Mr. Torgensen are requested to prepare Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and an Order consistent

00265

herewith. The Court further orders that in the event this matter is not appealed within 30 days as allowed by law, that the matter may be certified to the District Court for setting of the execution date.

Dated this 9<sup>th</sup> day of December, 1991.



DAVID S. YOUNG  
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

00266



MAILING CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that I mailed a true and correct copy of the foregoing Memorandum Decision, to the following, this 9 day of December, 1991:

Gregory J. Sanders  
Ronald J. Yengich  
Attorneys for Petitioner  
175 East 400 South, Suite 400  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111

Charlene Barlow  
Kirk Torgensen  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Attorneys for Defendant  
236 State Capitol  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84114

C. Porter

00267

***ADDENDUM "B"***

**Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law  
of Third District Court**

FILED DISTRICT COURT  
Third Judicial District

Jan 28 1992

SALT LAKE COUNTY

By CP Deputy Clerk

R. PAUL VAN DAM (3312)  
Attorney General  
CHARLENE BARLOW (0212)  
Assistant Attorney General  
Attorneys for Respondent  
236 State Capitol  
Salt Lake City, Utah 84114  
Telephone: (801) 538-1021

---

IN THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR SALT LAKE COUNTY  
STATE OF UTAH

---

JOSEPH MITCHELL PARSONS,	:	
Petitioner,	:	FINDINGS OF FACT AND
	:	CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
v.	:	
N. ELDON BARNES,	:	CASE NO. 900901405
Respondent.	:	Judge David S. Young

---

The above-entitled matter came on regularly for hearing on May 24, 1991, and August 13, 1991, before the Honorable David S. Young. Petitioner, Joseph Mitchell Parsons, was present and represented by Gregory J. Sanders and Ronald J. Yengich. Respondent was represented by Charlene Barlow and Kirk Torgensen, Assistant Attorneys General. The Court being fully advised in the premises hereby enters its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as follows:

00268

### FINDINGS OF FACT

1. That petitioner was hitchhiking on August 30, 1987, on Interstate 15 near Barstow, California, when the victim, Richard L. Ernest, offered him a ride to Denver, Colorado.

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