1992

# Joseph Mitchell Parsons v. M. Eldon Barnes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Finally, petitioner has abandoned his claim that his trial counsel's failure to attack the statements constitutes ineffective assistance where he does not present the argument to this Court, and he withdrew the argument at the district court level to pursue the issue as a substantive error.

Point II: All of the alleged deficiencies in the conduct of petitioner's trial counsel constitute reasonable trial strategy or otherwise fall within the wide range of professionally competent assistance. Further, petitioner fails to establish the requisite prejudice for any of his claims. As none of the claimed errors are either substantial or prejudicial, the cumulative error doctrine does not apply.

Point III: The federal constitution does not require the state to provide counsel to indigent inmates at state expense for pursuit of postconviction review. Petitioner provides no

valid basis for his suggested expansion of state constitutional rights beyond those recognized at the federal level.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

PETITIONER'S SUBSTANTIVE CHALLENGE TO THE SWORN STATEMENTS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AS IT SHOULD AND COULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL; ALTERNATIVELY, THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE STATEMENTS WERE MERELY INVESTIGATIVE, AND PETITIONER'S SPECULATIVE ARGUMENTS DO NOT ESTABLISH ANY CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION

#### A. Procedural Bar

Petitioner claims that the prosecution's failure to provide him with notice of and an opportunity to appear at the taking of the two sworn statements denied him his due process rights, his right to counsel, and his right to confront witnesses under the federal and state constitutions (Br. of App. at 11-12). His failure to raise this issue in his direct appeal and his untimely presentation of this issue in his habeas proceedings procedurally bar review of the merits.

Generally, habeas corpus proceedings are used to attack a conviction when an obvious injustice or a substantial denial of a constitutional right occurred at trial. Gerrish v. Barnes, No. 900352, slip op. at 8 (Utah Dec. 16, 1992); Fernandez v. Cook, 783 P.2d 547, 549 (Utah 1989); Bundy v. DeLand, 763 P.2d 803, 804 (Utah 1988). A petitioner cannot raise issues in his habeas petition that could or should have been raised on direct appeal absent unusual circumstances justifying the failure to raise the issues earlier. Gerrish, slip op. at 8; Jensen v. DeLand, 795

P.2d 619, 620 (Utah 1989); Fernandez, 783 P.2d at 549; see Bundy, 763 P.2d at 804; Wells v. Shulsen, 747 P.2d 1043, 1044 (Utah 1987) (per curiam); Codianna v. Morris, 660 P.2d 1101, 1104 (Utah 1983). Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel come within this "unusual circumstances" exception when the same counsel represented the petitioner at trial and on direct appeal.<sup>3</sup> Fernandez, 783 P.2d at 549; see Hurst v. Cook, 777 P.2d 1029, 1035-36 & n.6 (Utah 1989) (collecting cases on "unusual circumstances" and indicating that such circumstances exist where a petitioner is unjustifiably denied an opportunity to raise an issue on direct appeal). In this case, petitioner's claim of a substantive constitutional violation is asserted independent of his ineffectiveness argument; therefore petitioner must establish unusual circumstances justifying his failure to raise the substantive violation on direct appeal.

Petitioner relies on his trial memorandum from the habeas proceedings as adequately raising the issue (Br. of App. at 12), and makes no reference to or justification for his failure to include the point in his direct appeal. His habeas petition was based on several alleged instances of ineffective assistance which encompassed the sworn statements (3d R. at 17-23; copy submitted herewith as Addendum B). It was not until the

---

<sup>3</sup> The fact that trial counsel also represented a defendant on direct appeal constitutes an unusual circumstance only in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance because counsel cannot be expected to raise his own ineffectiveness. Fernandez, 783 P.2d at 549-50. This concern does not apply in areas of substantive error. See id., 783 P.2d at 550.

day before the evidentiary hearing that petitioner filed the trial memorandum which, for the first time, asserted that the taking of the statements constituted a substantive due process violation warranting reversal of his conviction (3d R. at 188-213; copy submitted herewith as Addendum C). When asked to procedurally bar the issue, the district court refused, saying that "when the focus of the petitioner's claim[, as] stated herein, is on the effectiveness of counsel, and since that same counsel handled both the trial and appeal, it seems appropriate and equitable that this Court consider those arguments on their merits." (3d R. at 256; copy submitted herewith as Addendum D). The court then addressed the issue in the manner in which it was first presented: part of the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel (3d R. at 253-55, 257-65; Addendum D).

The district court erred in refusing to procedurally bar this issue. See Pierre v. Shulsen, 802 F.2d 1282, 1283 (10th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1033 (1987). This Court must correct that error to achieve consistent application of Utah's procedural bar rules. Where state courts fail to consistently apply the state procedural bar rules, federal courts are not bound by those rules in federal postconviction review and may reach the merits of issues otherwise not properly before them. Harris v. Reed, 489 U.S. 255, 260-61, 109 S. Ct. 1038, 1043 (1989) (generally, federal courts are not prevented from reaching the merits of a claim on habeas unless the last state court rendering a judgment "clearly and expressly" states that its

decision rests on a state procedural bar); Andrews v. Deland, 943 F.2d 1162, 1188-92 (1991), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 1213 (1992); Church v. Sullivan, 942 F.2d 1501, 1506-08 (10th Cir. 1991).

Because the substantive issue petitioner now seeks to have reviewed was not raised in his direct appeal, despite its availability, and petitioner advances no justification for his failure to timely raise the issue, there are no "unusual circumstances" and the issue should be procedurally barred.

## B. Merits

### 1. State Constitutional Review

Petitioner asserts that this Court should find a per se violation of his rights under both the state and federal constitutions (Br. of App. at 17). However, he made only nominal reference to the state constitution in his trial memorandum to the district court during his habeas review (see Addendum C), and he has provided no separate analysis in his brief to this Court based on state constitutional provisions. Consequently, a separate state constitutional analysis is not warranted. State v. Lafferty, 749 P.2d 1239, 1247 & n.5 (Utah 1988), habeas corpus granted on other grounds, 949 F.2d 1546 (10 Cir. 1991).

### 2. Federal Constitutional Review

Petitioner characterizes the two sworn statements he now challenges as "depositions" and contends that the taking of depositions without notice to or the presence of petitioner or his counsel constitutes a per se violation of his due process

right, his right to counsel, and his right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him.

The district court found that "these 'depositions' were nothing more than investigative sworn statements, and in fact worked to the benefit of the petitioner during the course of the penalty phase of the trial. . . . The statements were from the beginning readily available to defense counsel, and were only generated in order to preserve investigative information." (3d R. at 260-61; 276-77; Addendum D). The court thus concluded "that the statements were not 'depositions', but were rather 'sworn statements' generated by a careful and thoughtful investigative prosecutor." (3d R. at 261; Addendum D). Petitioner challenges the latter finding. This Court will uphold the trial court's factual findings unless it finds them to be "clearly erroneous." Termunde v. Utah State Prison, 786 P.2d 1341, 1342 (Utah 1990).

#### A. Characterization of Statements

As petitioner recognizes, the timing and nature of the statements are important. This case, characterized by the prosecutor as a major case (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript [hereinafter "H.C. Tr."] at 352), involved a murder occurring in the early morning hours of August 31, 1987. Petitioner was apprehended later the same day (Sent. Tr. III at 789-91). The victim's body was found a day later on September 1 (Sent. Tr. II at 548, 588-89; H.C. Tr. at 352). The information was originally filed on September 2, 1987, two days after the murder (5th R. at 72). On the same day, the State took the two sworn statements

now challenged by petitioner (H.C. Tr. at 69; see statements of Chad Williams and Beverly Ernest on file with this Court). One statement was from the victim's widow, a California resident who was emotionally distraught, having lost her estranged husband to a brutal murder only two days earlier (H.C. Tr. at 60-61; Ernest Statement). The second statement came from a witness whose testimony and identification of petitioner was a key part of the prosecution's case and who was in fear of his life (H.C. Tr. at 60, 67-68; Williams Statement).

The reasonableness of questioning an identification witness and the widow of the murder victim during the initial stages of an investigation is clear. Defendant suggests that the prosecutor's precaution of taking the statements under oath changed the interviews into depositions, which he has a right to attend. He cites no authority providing that the State cannot conduct its investigatory interviews under oath or that, if it does so, defendant must be present (see discussion of rule 14, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, infra). Scott Burns, the Iron County Prosecuting Attorney, arranged to take the statements under oath in order to prepare and investigate his case (H.C. Tr. at 62, 71). The State neither used nor intended to use the statements at trial (H.C. Tr. at 65-66, 70). When the statements were made, the prosecutor did not know what petitioner's claims or defenses were (H.C. Tr. at 57-58), and he did not fully understand the events surrounding the murder (H.C. Tr. at 62-63), as evidenced by his filing of an amended information on September

10 (5th R. at 1-3). The State took at least four other unchallenged statements on or about September 2, seeking to "put everything in perspective" early in the case, including the timing and sequence of events (H.C. Tr. at 62-63). As the district court recognized, the case for both parties was at the investigatory stage. Petitioner took advantage of the State's investigation by using one statement during the penalty phase to attempt to impeach the victim's widow (Sent. Tr. III at 888-92).

There is no evidence supporting petitioner's claim that the prosecution deliberately attempted to "create" testimony (Br. of App. at 13). There is no evidence that any of the information in the statements was false or that either individual would have testified differently at the penalty phase if they had not given their statements to the prosecutor under oath. The prosecution voluntarily opened its file to defense counsel, and the taking of the statements under oath memorialized the investigation and enabled the State to provide petitioner with a copy of the exact information its investigation uncovered. Use of both an oath and a reporter was merely a precaution occasionally used by the prosecutor and generated by the nature of the crime.

The prosecutor's motives for conducting interviews under oath, and the timing and nature of the interviews, support the trial court's finding that the statements were investigative sworn statements.

## B. Constitutional Violations

As petitioner recognized, the district court did not address this issue on constitutional grounds. The court's failure is without consequence, however, as the issue is procedurally barred (see subsection A, supra). However, even if the court had addressed the constitutional grounds, it would have found no merit to counsel's argument.

Petitioner initially asserts that the taking of the statements violated rule 14(h), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and that the violation has constitutional significance (Br. of App. at 13-14). Rule 14(h) outlines the method by which either party in a criminal proceeding may preserve the testimony of any material witness whom the party has reason to believe will be unable to attend a trial or hearing; the party would apply to the court for an order permitting examination of the witness by deposition, giving notice to the opposing party (a copy of the rule is submitted herewith as Addendum E). Scott Burns, the prosecuting attorney, testified that his reasons for taking the statements in question were not those involved in rule 14(h) (H.C. Tr. at 69-70). Although he was concerned with the anxieties harbored by each individual (H.C. Tr. at 60-61), the record does not indicate that he had any belief or reason to believe that either would be unable to appear in court if necessary. In fact, both individuals testified at the penalty phase. Burns acknowledged not only that he did not intend to use the statements at trial, but that he knew he would likely not be

allowed to do so (H.C. Tr. at 70). He intended to gain and preserve the information for his own investigative use (H.C. Tr. at 62, 71). As the threshold for invoking rule 14(h) did not exist, any failure to proceed under the rule has no bearing here.

Petitioner further argues that the prosecution's taking of sworn statements without his presence violated his right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses. The primary object of the right of confrontation is to prevent depositions and ex parte affidavits from being used against the accused at trial in lieu of a personal examination and cross-examination of the witness against him. State v. Anderson, 612 P.2d 778, 785 (Utah 1980). That object was not violated here as the prosecution did not use the sworn statements in court, and petitioner took full advantage of his right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses, both of whom testified at the penalty phase. As noted above, the statements were sworn interviews of potential witnesses taken during an investigation two days after a murder. As they were not depositions, petitioner had no constitutional right to be present. Petitioner's comparison of these early, investigatory statements with the right to cross-examine witnesses at a preliminary hearing and the right to have counsel present during a pre-trial line-up is not helpful. The statements did not prevent petitioner from presenting evidence to the court, but provided him with potential impeachment material.

Petitioner contends that the taking of sworn statements from key witnesses concerning key issues "permanently tainted"

the witnesses by freezing their testimony without benefit of cross-examination (Br. of App. at 17). This argument is purely speculative. Petitioner offers no proof that the witnesses' testimony was false or in any other manner "tainted."

Petitioner's contention that the prosecution's mention of perjury to the victim's widow "locked in" her testimony is also speculative (Br. of App. at 16). Petitioner has not demonstrated that the testimony would have changed absent the prosecutor's reference to perjury or that the perjury reference resulted in testimony more favorable to the prosecution than might otherwise have been given. Oaths are administered to give a greater assurance of veracity, and a witness has a right to know the legal ramifications arising from testifying under oath. The district court affirmatively found that "the taking of the sworn statements [did not] in any way affect[] the testimony of the witnesses. . . . Had the witness been more closely cross-examined by vigorous defense counsel there would have been no change." (3d R. at 261; Addendum D). Petitioner's speculative assertions do not establish a denial of his constitutional rights and are without merit.

Finally, petitioner affirmatively used one sworn statements during the penalty phase, attempting to impeach the victim's widow (Sent. Tr. III at 888-92). He does not cite this as part of his counsel's ineffectiveness. Petitioner cannot use the statements, then complain that their existence constitutes

prejudicial error. See State v. Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275, 1285 (Utah 1989); State v. Tillman, 750 P.2d 546, 560-61 (Utah 1987).

### C. Abandonment of Ineffective Assistance Claim

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